
R U L E 2 — F A I R S A I L I N G

A boat and her owner shall compete in compliance with recognized principles 
of sportsmanship and fair play. A boat may be penalized under this rule only 
if it is clearly established that these principles have been violated. The penalty 
shall be a disqualification that is not excludable.

As was discussed in Chapter 3, Sportsmanship and the Rules, when we race we 
should all agree to hold ourselves to the highest principles of fairness and good 
sportsmanship. This is clearly stated in the Basic Principles: Sportsmanship and 
the Rules: “Competitors in the sport of sailing are governed by a body of rules that 
they are expected to follow and enforce. A fundamental principle of 
sportsmanship is that when a boat breaks a rule and is not exon-erated she will 
promptly take an appropriate penalty or action, which may be to retire.”
Rule 2 gives these principles their teeth. When a boat or competitor clearly 
violates these principles, he or she breaks rule 2 and is liable to penalty. 
Note that a penalty for breaking this rule is more severe than for most other rules. 
Rule 2 clearly states that if you are in a series that allows you to discard your 
worst race, a disqualification for breaking rule 2 cannot be dis-carded (see rule 
90.3(b), Scoring). Notice also that a boat can be penalized under rule 2, even when 
another rule applies to the situation. Therefore, in any incident or situation where 
the principles in rule 2 have been clearly violated, regardless of what other rules 
may also have been broken, a boat is liable to disqualification under rule 2. This 
becomes very significant given that a boat has to count that disqualification in her 
final score.

“Could you give some examples of when you would consider the principles in 
rule 2 have been violated?”

Sure, recognizing that each protest committee is given the discretion to judge what 
they deem to be “recognized principles of sportsmanship and fair play.” In 
deciding whether a competitor has competed in compliance with the prin-ciples in 
rule 2, I feel it is important to consider the motive for their actions; i.e., was it an 
intentional violation of one of the principles?

U N D E R S T  A N D I N G T H E R A C I N G R U L E S O F S A I L I N G T H R O U G H 2 0 2 4



In Case 47, “An experienced helmsman of a port-tack boat hails ‘Starboard!’ to 
a beginner who, although on starboard tack, not being sure of himself and 
probably being scared of having his boat holed, tacks to port to avoid a colli-sion. 
No protest is lodged. One school of thought argues that it is fair game, because if a 
helmsman does not know the rules, that is his own hard luck. The other school 
rejects this argument, on the grounds that it is quite contrary to the spirit of the 
rules to deceive a competitor in that way. It is known that such a trick is often 
played, particularly where novices are involved. Question: In such as case, in 
addition to breaking rule 10, has the port-tack boat broken rule 2? Answer: A boat 
that deliberately hails ‘Starboard’ when she knows she is on port tack has not 
acted fairly and has broken rule 2. The protest committee might also consider 
taking action under rule 69.”

U N D E R S T A N D I N G T H E R A C I N G R U L E S O F S A I L I N G T H R O U G H 2 0 2 4

• A port-tack boat is reaching by to leeward of a starboard-tack boat before the 
start. The starboard-tack boat does not change her course, but just as the 
boats are passing her boom suddenly flies out and hits the port-tacker’s 
shroud. Clearly there is no way for port to keep clear at that moment. If it is 
determined that S’s skipper let the boom out intentionally to hit the boat on 
port, I would penalize S under rule 2. If it is determined that S was simply 
sailing her boat, perhaps responding to a gust of wind, etc., I would penalize P 
for not keeping clear.

Other examples:



• Two boats come off the starting line side by side in very light air. Suddenly, the 
leeward boat rocks hard to windward, the tip of her mast hitting the tip of the 
windward boat’s mast. The leeward boat does not change course. Again, if it is 
determined that the action was done solely to try to touch the windward boat, 
I would penalize the leeward boat under rule 2. I would apply the same 
reasoning to a leeward boat whose crew goes out on the trapeze in light air or 
otherwise reaches out and touches the windward boat for the sole purpose of 
“fouling the other boat out.” (See Case 73.)

• A boat is on a heavy-air overnight race. Each time the boat tacks, the crew 
down-below move the sails back and forth to the windward side to increase the 
boat’s stability. Not only would I penalize this boat for breaking rule 51 
(Movable Ballast), I would penalize her under rule 2 as well.
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One common practice that is not a violation of rule 2 is the tactic whereby one 
boat tries to make it harder for another boat to do well in a race or series, 
including by trying to put boats between herself and the other boat at the finish, 
provided the boat tries to sail within the rules and provided her motive is to 
benefit her own series score. Case 78 says, “In a fleet race for one-design boats, 
boat A uses tactics that clearly interfere with and hinder boat B’s progress in the 
race. While using those tactics, A does not break any rule, except possibly rule 2 
or 69.1(a). Question: In which of the following circumstances would A’s tactics be 
considered unsportsmanlike and a breach of rule 2 or of rule 69.1(a)?

(a) The protest committee finds that there was a reasonable chance that A’s 
tactics would benefit her final ranking in the event.

(b) The protest committee finds that there was a reasonable chance that A’s 
tactics would increase her chances of gaining selection for another event, 
but would not benefit her final ranking in the event.

(c) The protest committee finds that there was a reasonable chance that A’s 
tactics would increase her chances of gaining selection to her national 
team, but would not benefit her final ranking in the event.

(d) The protest committee finds that A and a third boat, boat C, had agreed 
that they would both adopt tactics that benefited C and that there was a 
reasonable chance that A’s tactics would benefit C’s final ranking in the 
event.

(e) The protest committee finds that A was attempting to worsen B’s race or 
series score for reasons unconnected with sport.



Answer: In circumstance (a), A would be in compliance with recognized prin-
ciples of sportsmanship and fair play. In circumstances (b) and (c), A would break 
rule 2, and possibly rule 69.1(a). In circumstance (d), both A and C would break 
rule 2, and possibly rule 69.1(a). In addition, by receiving help prohibited by rule 
41 from A, C would also break rule 41. In circumstance (e), A would break rule 2, 
and possibly rule 69.1(a) because, with no good sporting reason, her actions 
would clearly break recognized principles of sportsmanship and fair play.”  

Though some may shiver at the notion that it is okay for one boat to active -ly 
try to hinder another boat’s race, the racing rules themselves are in no way 
constructed to discourage, inhibit or prevent this. In fact, it is quite common for 
one boat to try to start close to leeward of another for the purpose of hinder -ing 
the other’s start, to intentionally tack on someone’s wind on a beat, or to luff a 
boat downwind. In addition, it is quite common for sailors to be aware of “who 
their competition is” from the outset of a race or series and to actively seek 
opportunities to hinder them early on. As long as it’s done within the racing rules, 
it breaks no rules including rule 2.

“What happens if a boat hinders my race and causes me to finish worse than I 
would have otherwise finished, and is found to have broken the Fair Sailing rule 
(rule 2) in the process?”
Then you are entitled to redress under rule 62.1(d) (Redress)! You can request this 
yourself, or the race or protest committee can do it on your behalf (rule 60, Right 
to Protest; Right to Request Redress or Rule 69 Action).

U N D E R S T A N D I N G T H E R A C I N G R U L E S O F S A I L I N G T H R O U G H 2 0 2 4






